
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/sids/sids2014/
Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 8 No. 56 Thursday, 4 September 2014

Earth Negotiations Bulletin
#4

SIDS

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Asheline Appleton, Kate Louw, Leila Mead, Kate Offerdahl, 
and Delia Paul. The Digital Editors are Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI and Kiara Worth. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The 
Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the European 
Commission (DG-ENV and DG-CLIMATE) and the Government of Switzerland (the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN) and the Swiss 
Agency for Development Cooperation (SDC)). General Support for the Bulletin during 2014 is provided by the German Federal Ministry for the 
Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (BMUB), the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, 
the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the 
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the International Development Research Centre (IDRC). Funding for coverage of this conference 
has been provided by the UN Development Programme (UNDP), UNEP, and the World Bank. Funding for translation of the Bulletin into French has 
been provided by the Government of France, the Wallonia, Québec, and the International Organization of La Francophonie/Institute for Sustainable 
Development of La Francophonie (IOF/IFDD). The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. 
Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide 
reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, NY 10022 USA. The ENB team 
at the Third International Conference on SIDS can be contacted by e-mail at <delia@iisd.org>.

http://enb.iisd.mobi/

THIRD INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON 
SIDS HIGHLIGHTS: 

WEDNESDAY, 3 SEPTEMBER 2014
The Third International Conference on SIDS continued its 

plenary discussions with Member States, intergovernmental 
organizations and Major Groups presenting statements and 
announcing commitments and partnerships. Two multi-
stakeholder partnership dialogues took place on: sustainable 
energ y; and oceans, seas and biodiversity. Numerous side events 
took place through the day and into the evening, including 
several that were focused on renewable energy. The UN webcast 
of statements can be found at http://webtv.un.org

PLENARY DISCUSSIONS
Deputy Prime Minister Fonotoe Nuafesili Pierre Lauofo, 

Samoa, said Tuesday’s multi-stakeholder partnership dialogue 
on social development, health and non-communicable diseases, 
women and youth highlighted the importance of harnessing the 
potential of these social groups in SIDS.

General debate: Country statements highlighted the 
importance of: promoting inter- and intra-regional connectivity 
among SIDS; reconsidering the use of GDP as the sole measure 
of wealth; achieving progress on the Millennium Development 
Goals; addressing water scarcity; and promoting renewable 
energy and energy efficiency.

Many delegates looked ahead to the forthcoming climate 
discussions in New York, Lima and Paris, while referring to the 
security aspects of climate threats and the potential of natural 
disasters to reverse development gains. 

Finland called for disaster risk reduction (DRR) to be better 
targeted toward the poorest and most vulnerable. Thailand said 
the emerging Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) 
Community could offer a window of opportunity for cooperation 
with SIDS. Others mentioned promoting foreign direct 
investment, triangular cooperation, and South-South cooperation, 
including among SIDS.

Several countries announced SIDS-specific partnerships and 
financing, including the United Arab Emirates’ allocation of 
US$100 million in concessional financing for renewable energy, 
and Sweden’s contribution of SEK $1.3 billion to the Global 
Environment Facility (GEF), and a further SEK $300 million to 
the Green Climate Fund, when fully operationalized. 

 Switzerland encouraged SIDS to establish permanent 
missions to the UN in Geneva to ensure that their voices are 
better heard. 

Barbados called for a SIDS-specific financing mechanism to 
be established within the GEF, and offered to serve as a hub for 
new intergovernmental collaboration between SIDS.

The UK highlighted its Darwin Initiative for protecting 
biodiversity in the natural environment, and Darwin Plus, which 
focuses on the UK’s island territories. He outlined priorities 

for the post-2015 development agenda, emphasizing poverty 
eradication, gender equality, and sexual and reproductive health 
and rights.

The Republic of Korea anticipated the creation of a new 
Korea-Pacific Island Forum cooperation fund. 

Romania, for the EU, said the SAMOA Pathway provides 
new thinking on models of future cooperation. She noted 
the role of private sector investment in catalyzing balanced, 
inclusive and sustainable growth, and highlighted that 11 of the 
EU’s bilateral partnerships with SIDS are focused on energy. 

Sri Lanka called for a vulnerability and resilience framework 
for small states including SIDS, to help determine access to and 
allocation of financial resources. 

Mexico discussed a cooperation programme with Caribbean 
countries to address: preservation and conservation; sustainable 
tourism; trade; natural disasters; and transport. 

Costa Rica mentioned the Climate Vulnerability Forum, 
which addresses vulnerabilities faced by all small states, and 
supported South-South cooperation, especially among SIDS, and 
for bridging the ‘digital divide.’

Argentina said the SAMOA Pathway could make a 
contribution to the post-2015 development agenda.

Nepal noted the impacts of melting glaciers and sea-level 
rise, saying the fates of mountain nations and island states are 
entwined. 

Indonesia highlighted the importance of maritime-based 
development, calling this the blue economy, and committed to 
strengthening air and sea linkages with SIDS in the region. 

Suriname called on the UN to lead in revisiting the criteria 
for graduation to middle-income status, and to act as a SIDS 
advocate to international financial institutions. 

The Commonwealth Secretariat highlighted a strategic 
partnership with the Nordic Council for the sustainable 
utilization of ocean resources.

ECLAC highlighted the importance of regional integration 
and building resilience while mitigating risk.

UNEP noted that UNEP Live, a web-based platform, is being 
used to share information on key SIDS issues.

The International Organization for Migration emphasized the 
need to prepare for disasters, and to promote talent mobility as 
the best means of protecting vulnerable nations.

The Women’s Major Group called for a clear SAMOA 
Pathway implementation plan.

MULTI-STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIP DIALOGUE: 
SUSTAINABLE ENERGY

Dialogue Chair Simona-Mirela Miculescu, Romania, 
welcomed participants. Elizabeth Thompson, SE4ALL, 
moderated the session.

Andrew Jacobs, the EU, highlighted the EU/NZ Energy 
Access Partnership that is assisting the Pacific region in 
reducing dependence on fossil fuels, and suggested extending 
this cooperation to other regions.



Thursday, 4 September 2014   Vol. 8 No. 56  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Naoko Ishii, CEO, GEF, said affordable energy is vital for 
the sustainable development of SIDS, and that the international 
community must consider putting a price on carbon and reducing 
fossil fuel subsidies.

Adnan Amin, Director-General, International Renewable 
Energy Agency (IRENA), announced the organization’s SIDS 
Lighthouses initiative to support the development of renewables 
in SIDS, and the launch of a biofuel project in Samoa, funded by 
the Abu Dhabi Development Fund. 

Christiana Figueres, Executive Secretary, UN Framework 
Convention on Climate Change, highlighted opportunities for 
SIDS in renewable energy, saying that their small size and 
remoteness encourages the incubation of renewable energy 
technologies, and enables price competitiveness with fossil fuels. 

Zaheer Allam, Australian Urban Design Research Center, 
noted the needs for: promoting a diverse energy mix; 
reducing the cost of renewables; managing consumption; and 
decentralizing the renewable energy sector.

Discussion: The Marshall Islands said his country powers 
95% of outer island communities with solar energy, and 
highlighted the benefits of ocean thermal energy conversion. The 
Bahamas said that his country aims to achieve 30% renewable 
energy use by 2030, and discussed its partnership with IRENA’s 
Initiative on Renewables and Islands. Germany supported 
IRENA’s Renewable Energy Roadmap 2030, and highlighted her 
country’s partnerships with SIDS.

Norway discussed an initiative that assists more than 20 
SIDS in developing clean energy projects. Saint Kitts and Nevis 
mentioned support from Cuba and Venezuela for phasing out 
incandescent light bulbs, and China’s support for installing solar-
powered streetlights.

Italy described a partnership for sustainable biomass, solar 
and biofuel strategies in SIDS. 

The UK described a partnership to bring biogas to Samoa.
New Zealand highlighted the outcomes of the Pacific Energy 

Summit 2013, hosted by New Zealand and the EU.
The US highlighted the Caribbean Energy Security 

Initiative and his country’s intention to work with Grenada as 
a pilot country to improve its energy sector. He mentioned a 
forthcoming workshop being organized with IRENA and the 
Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme 
(SPREP), and said best practices would be shared through the 
IRENA SIDS Lighthouses initiative. 

The Pacific Community highlighted partnerships on: Bicycles 
for Capital; the Melanesia Million Miracle Programme to provide 
electricity to one million people by 2020; and Cooking for Life, 
which promotes the use of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). 

Other partnerships were also announced including: addressing 
greenhouse gas abatement; strengthening grid stability; 
supporting knowledge management; building capacity and 
scaling up markets for renewable energy; and promoting low-
carbon industrial development through micro, small- and 
medium-sized enterprises. 

UNDP called for small-scale solutions, such as mini-grids 
and solar home systems. The Pacific Islands Forum stressed the 
importance of transport efficiency. Barbados offered its expertise 
with solar water heaters to other SIDS. 

MULTI-STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIP DIALOGUE: 
OCEANS, SEAS AND BIODIVERSITY

Milan Jaya Meetarbhan, Mauritius, chaired and moderated the 
dialogue.

In opening remarks, Arvin Boolell, Mauritius, emphasized the 
need to develop ocean economies sustainably.

Tommy Remengesau, President, Palau, called for looking 
beyond the exclusive economic zone (EEZ) approach and 
adopting a holistic global approach to oceans. He invited 
interested parties to collaborate on the Palau National Marine 
Sanctuary.

Amb. Angus Friday, Grenada, proposed establishing a 
platform that goes beyond sharing best practices, by collating 
project information and matching projects to donors.

Miguel de Serpa Soares, UN Under-Secretary-General 
for Legal Affairs, introduced UN-Oceans as an interagency 
coordination mechanism.

Biliana Cicin-Sain, President, Global Ocean Forum, called 
for considering new uses of coastal zones and EEZs, and for 
mobilizing financing accompanied by enhanced capacity, noting 
the importance of making new and additional initiatives genuine 
and durable.

Kate Brown, Global Island Partnership, proposed resisting 
crafting new partnerships thematically, and instead focusing on a 
collective impact approach, inclusivity, and mobilizing high-level 
political leadership.

Discussion: The US presented the work of the Global Ocean 
Acidification Observing Network (GOA-ON). He announced 
continued US support for the FAO Western Central Atlantic 
Fisheries Commission, as well as new partnerships on ocean 
acidification, marine pollution, illegal fishing and seafood 
transparency.

The Solomon Islands called for partnerships on resource 
management involving both SIDS and non-SIDS partners.

The Maldives announced the creation of a UNESCO 
Biosphere Reserve and an environmental police unit.

China described its partnerships with Jamaica to build 
ocean observation systems, and with other SIDS on issues of 
biodiversity monitoring, DRR, and coastal zone management.

Tonga provided an overview of the Secretariat of the Pacific 
Community (SPC)-EU Deep Seas Mineral Project, which aims to 
regulate the deep sea mining industry in a coordinated manner in 
the Pacific region. 

SPREP announced its partnership with the National 
Geographic Society and the Waitt Foundation, which will include 
capacity building for SPREP members to establish ‘no-take’ 
marine reserves.

The CBD Secretariat highlighted its Sustainable Ocean 
Initiative. CARICOM announced its five-year collaborative 
project titled Integrating Water, Land and Ecosystems 
Management in Caribbean SIDS. The WMO presented an 
initiative to implement a Global Framework for Climate Services 
for SIDS. SIDS DOCK called attention to the UNEP-led Blue 
Carbon Initiative, which aims to ensure the management of 
marine resources such that their carbon sequestration and storage 
functions are maintained. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
As the third day of the Conference drew to a close, many were 

praising the host country, Samoa, for the impeccable hospitality 
arrangements. Others, however, wondered about the ‘take-aways’ 
from the conference, remarking that it has been the venue of 
mixed agendas. 

Given that the general plenary debate had run for the duration 
of the conference, some delegates questioned whether there 
had been really enough time to address the salient issues, and 
whether the organization of parallel discussions was a wise 
use of limited time and resources. “You have to ask whether 
day after day of general debate is not draining energy from the 
partnership dialogues, where concrete actions and pledges are 
actually being made,” said one. 

Although much had been said about climate change over 
the last three days, little was mentioned on the issue of climate 
migration, frustrating some, who acknowledged that this issue, 
which has become pressing for some SIDS, is still highly 
contentious. 

Landlocked developing countries (LLDCs), meanwhile, were 
taking the opportunity to leverage partnership opportunities. 
The situation, summed up by one delegate, amounted to 
“middle-income countries trying to influence SIDS votes, least 
developed countries and LLDCs trying to get in on some of the 
partnerships, and donor countries running the other way talking 
about so-called new, innovative forms of financing.”

Nevertheless, many a guest remarked on the atmosphere of 
goodwill at the conference. In the sanguine view of one veteran 
negotiator, “At the end of the day, we all want to sail on the 
same sustainable ship.”

ENB SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS: The Earth Negotiations 
Bulletin summary and analysis of the Third International 
Conference on SIDS will be available on Sunday, 7 September 
2014 online at: http://www.iisd.ca/sids/sids2014/



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


